
 

 

1.  Call to Order by Mayor Kevin Hammond 
2.  Approval of December 4, 2024 Agenda 
3.  Citizen Comments: 
4.  Consent Agenda: 

a. Approval of November 6, 2024 CC Meeting Minutes  
b. Approval of November 13, 2024 Special CC Meeting Minutes 
c. Approval of November 21, 2024 Special CC Meeting Minutes 
d. Approval of November 2024 Bills (Checks to include 44164 - 44245) 
e. Department Reports 
f. CMB License's Dollar General and 54 Station 
g. Employee Christmas Gift Cards 

5. New Business: 
a. Ordinance 783 - KMGA Membership 
b. Ordinance 784 - KMGA Acquisition Management Project Participation 
c.  Technical Service Agreement- Black Hills Energy 

6. Municipal Court Report 
7. Executive Session: 

a. Attorney Client Privilege: K.S.A. 75-4319(b)(2) - 35 Minutes 
8. Pardon Attorney 
9. Treasurer Report 
10. Governmental Remarks 
11. Adjournment 

*NOTE: this agenda is subject to change without notice 

Governing Body, City of Garden Plain 

City Building, 507 N Main St 

Wednesday, December 4, 2024 at 6:00 pm 



, Garder, 

Governing Body, City of Garden Plain 

City Building, 507 N Main St 

November 6, 2024 at 6:00 pm 

1. Call to Order by Mayor Kevin Hammond: (6:00}:

Mayor Kevin Hammond called the November 6, 2024 City Council meeting to order followed by the

Pledge of Allegiance and moment of silence. Council members present were Jenny Zoglman, Tracy

Thul, Amy Hunter, Brent Randolph and Jessica Lyman. Also present were Kelly McElroy

Administrator, Morgan Koon -City Attorney, Tylor Struckman -W/WW Superintendent, Darren

Haukap-Treasurer.

2. Approval of November 6, 2024 Agenda:

Remove item a under New Business. Brent Randolph made a motion to adopt the November 6,

2024 agenda with changes, 2nd by Amy Hunter. Vote 5-0 motion carries.

3. Citizen comments:

Shad Biggs with Halagains had concerns about the common consumption area that has been

adopted by the City. City Attorney Morgan Koon answered his questions. Richard Owens, 2701 S

Brookmeadow Dr, Garden Plain, wanted information on the termination of three employees. City

Attorney Morgan Koon stated that personnel issues cannot be discussed for legal reasons.

4. Consent Agenda:

a. Approval of October 2, 2024, CC Meeting Minutes

b. Approval of October 2024 bills (checks to include 44077-44163)

Special projects (check to include 1065) 

c. Department reports

Brent Randolph made a motion to approve the consent agenda, 2nd by Tracy Thul. Vote 5-0

motion carries.

5. New Business:

a. Ordinance 783- removed from agenda

6. Municipal Court Report:

None

7. Executive Session:

a. Non-elected Personnel: K.S.A. 75-4319(b)(1 ): (6:08-6:28) Mayor requested 20 minutes for

non elected personnel. Amy Hunter made a motion to enter executive session for 20

minutes under K.S.A. 75-4319(b)(1) matters of non-elected personnel, 2nd by Tracy Thul.

Vote 5-0 motion carries. Council returned at 6:28 with no binding action taken.

8. Pardon attorney: 6:29

9. Treasurer Report:

Nothing

10. Governmental Remarks:

None

















December 04, 2024 Garden Plain City Council Meeting                        Agenda Item: 4.e 
 

 

 

To:  Garden Plain City Council 
FR: City Staff 
RE: November Department Reports and Project Updates 
 
Background:  
City staff is pleased to provide the following updates on current projects and initiatives. 
 
Finance:  
Sales tax revenue:  

November sales tax revenues totaled $29,340.17 with the City’s local 1% portion representing $11,566.81 of the 
total amount.  

This is a decrease of 84% (or -$24,789.44) compared to November 2023 total revenues, and a decrease of 14% (or 
-$4,061.77) from last month’s total revenues.  Year to date total revenues are up 3% (or $10,883.92) over the same 
time period in 2023.  

The following chart shows total sales tax revenues YTD as well as a break out of the City’s 1% sales tax YTD. It is 
not uncommon for sales tax to fluctuate month to month as retailers have some discretion as to when they report 
and file their revenues. For example, some businesses report monthly, quarterly, bi-annually, or annually.  

Month Total 2024 Sales Tax Revenues GP City 1% 2024 Sales Tax Revenues 

Jan $      31,503.67   $           13,206.25  

Feb $      39,137.89   $           17,852.82  

Mar $       28,614.62   $            11,449.87  

Apr $       31,026.71   $            13,762.03  

May $      31,961.01   $           12,128.50  

Jun $      30,691.33   $            12,512.68  

Jul $       32,272.51   $            12,468.01  

Aug $       32,929.34   $            13,277.17  

Sep $       32,334.14   $            12,527.37  

Oct $       33,401.94   $            12,757.32  

Nov $       29,340.17   $            11,566.81  

Dec     

Annual YTD Total $   353,213.33   $        143,508.83  

 

As reported in August, the Sedgwick County Commission is still discussing and considering a county-wide sales 
tax.  This will be in addition to the current sales tax rates.  It will take a vote of the people at an election to authorize 



December 04, 2024 Garden Plain City Council Meeting                        Agenda Item: 4.e 
 

 

 

this proposal. The County’s proposal stems from an ongoing discussion about consolidation of services provided 
by cities and counties and utilizing sales tax revenues to supplement or decrease property taxes. There is an 
upcoming meeting with County officials as to how this proposal will potentially impact both services and revenues 

Police:  

Law Enforcement Activity:     

10 reportable case’s generated over the past month that required investigations, most of which were generic 

in nature and are inclusive of reportable accident reports. There was 11 traffic stops for a variety of traffic 

infractions with speeding being the number one offense. This consisted of 2 traffic citations 5 warnings. There 

were two accident reports this past month and one is currently being investigated as a hit and run activity. (As 

of 11-27) 

Other Activity:  

231 area business checks, 80 physical building checks (as a FYI these building checks include the physical walk 

through on a regular basis in both facilities of the grade and high school buildings to include door inspections 

and entry areas), 4 outside agency assists, 3 dispatched calls for Garden Plain (check welfare, calls for service, 

animal/pets at large, etc.)  There were 7 VIN inspections and one fingerprint service performed this past 

month.  

Provided security for 3 GPHS home varsity football playoff events.   (As of 11-27) 

We are currently participating in the Holiday KDOT/KSTRO safety program for this past weekend 

(Thanksgiving) 

Scheduled Training:  

Chief attended an advanced patrol rifle AR platform armorer’s class on November 19-20,  The Sedgwick 

County Area Chief’s meeting, a Communication’s radio maintenance and encryption update.  We are late in 

receiving our new radios for the switchover beginning shortly after the first of the year regarding encryption. 

The manufacturer and distributor were waiting to ship because they did not have all the accessories ordered 

and required. Additionally they required re- programmed for the grid layout in our area. (Sedgwick County and 

adjacent areas) Hopefully we will get this all taken care of for the switch. 

 
Project Update: Municipal Pool: 
Waters Edge, the City’s municipal aquatic facility design firm, is moving forward with the project engineering.  It is 
30% complete.  At this stage, we will issue a Request for Qualifications (RFQ) and/or a Request for Proposals (RFP) 
for construction teams.  We will be utilizing a Gross Maximum Price (GMP or sometimes referred to as GMAX) 
process.  In short, that means we know our maximum budget of $3.2 M ($1.67 M funded by the grant), and will bid 
out some alternatives for the amenities such as slides, diving boards, zip lines, basketball goals, number of 
features in the splash pad area, etc. without going over the maximum budget. We can select our “must have” 
items and we can defer other items, if needed.   
 



December 04, 2024 Garden Plain City Council Meeting                        Agenda Item: 4.e 
 

 

 

We are planning to issue the RFQ or RFP in the next two weeks.  It will be open for several weeks. Then we will 
receive the responses, they will be scored, and the Council will select the winning contractors/team at an 
upcoming Council meeting.   
 
We are still moving the project forward at a good pace, and weather permitting, construction should be complete 
in time for the 2026 swimming season.  
 
Project Update: Main and Garnett Drainage: 
Vogts Parga is scheduled to being Phase II of the Garnett and Main Street Drainage on Dec. 2, weather permitting.   
Unfortunately during the recent rains, someone drove through the newly completed area of Phase I and seriously 
rutted it up. The contractor estimates the job will take approximately one week.  
 
Christmas Kickoff:  
The annual Christmas Kickoff event was held on Saturday, November 30th.  It was well attended. The chili and 
cinnamon roll feed raised over $1,000 in donations benefiting the Council of Hope to help pay for the cost of the 
holiday lighting display.   
 
Upcoming Special Events/City Closures: 
 

• 12.04.24 – City Council Meeting – 6 PM 
• 12.11.24 – EDC Meeting – 7 PM 
• 12.17.24 – Municipal Court – 6 PM 
• 12.24 & 12.25.24 – City Facilities Closed for Christmas Holiday 
• 12.29.24 – City Planning Commission meeting – Cancelled  
• 01.01.25 – City Facilities Closed for New Year’s Day 
• 01.08.25 – City Council Meeting – Rescheduled from 01.01.25 

 
Recommended Action: The City Council is asked to:  
 

1. Receive and file 
 

Attachments: 
None 



December 04, 2024 Garden Plain City Council Meeting                        Agenda Item: 4.g 
 

 

 

To:  Garden Plain City Council 
FR: City Staff 
RE: Employee Christmas Gift Cards 
 
Background:  
For the past several years the City Council has authorized the purchase of $100 gift cards for each employee as a 
Christmas gift, in appreciation of their service to the community.   
 
The Council has typically considered this at their December meeting.  
 
Recommended Action: The City Council is asked to:  
 

1. Make a recommendation as to whether to purchase the gift cards, and as to the amount.  
 
Attachments: 
None 



December 04, 2024 Garden Plain City Council Meeting                        Agenda Item: 5.a 
 
 

 

To:  Garden Plain City Council 
FR: City Staff 
RE: Consider Ordinance 783 – KMGA Membership 
 
Background:  
In 1990 the City of Garden Plain entered into an interlocal agreement with Kansas Municipal Gas Agency (KMGA) 
that defined and organized the City’s operation of the natural gas system, creating a separate legal entity. 
Pursuant to state statute, this interlocal agreement authorized the City Council to also act as the Board of Public 
Utilities on behalf of the natural gas system, purchasing natural gas through KMGA suppliers.  The interlocal 
agreement is attached for reference.  
 
At some point, the City left KMGA and began purchasing gas directly from several different entities.  At this time, 
the City desires to re-engage with KMGA for natural gas acquisition.  Ordinance 783 authorizes the City to rejoin 
KMGA; the Ordinance will be provided to the Council at the meeting.  
 
Recommended Action: The City Council is asked to:  
 

1. Adopt Ordinance 783, authorizing the City to rejoin KMGA.  
 
Attachments: 

A. KMGA 1990 Interlocal Agreement 
B. Ordinance 783 







































































(First published in the Times Sentinel on _______________, 20___) 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 783 
 

AN ORDINANCE CONSENTING TO THE MEMBERSHIP OF THE CITY IN THE 
KANSAS MUNICIPAL GAS AGENCY AND APPROVING AND AUTHORIZING THE 
FORM OF AND EXECUTION OF AN AGREEMENT CREATING THE KANSAS 
MUNICIPAL GAS AGENCY AND APPROVING AND AUTHORIZING THE FORM OF 
THE BYLAWS OF THE KANSAS MUNICIPAL GAS AGENCY. 
 

 WHERAS, K.S.A. 12-2901 et seq. (the “Act”) provides that in order for public agencies to 
make the most efficient use of their powers, such public agencies may cooperate with other public 
agencies on a basis of mutual advantage to provide services in a manner that will best accord with 
economic and other factors influencing the needs and development of such public agencies; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Pursuant to the Act, two or more public agencies may enter into an agreement 
to create a municipal services agency for the purpose of planning, studying and developing supply, 
transmission and distribution facilities and programs, and for the purpose of securing an adequate, 
economical and reliable supply of natural gas and transmitting same for distribution through the 
distribution systems of such public agencies of for the use by other utility systems of such public 
agencies or to perform any other activities, services or functions permitted by a public agency; and 
 
 WHEREAS, certain public agencies have heretofore by agreement (the “Agreement”) 
created the Kansas Municipal Gas Agency (the “Agency”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, THE City of Garden Plain, Kansas (the “City”) is qualified for full membership in 
the Agency as a public agency which owns and operates a natural gas system, an electric system 
which utilizes natural gas, a utility which uses natural gas in its operation or any other municipal 
utility. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE GOVERNING BODY OF THE CITY OF 
GARDEN PLAIN, KANSAS: 
 
 SECTION 1. It is hereby deemed advisable that the City enter into the Agreement to 
create the Kansas Municipal Gas Agency. 
 
 SECTION 2. In order to effectuate the creation of the Agency, the Mayor and City Clerk 
are hereby authorized to execute the INTERLOCAL COOPERATION AGREEMENT CREATING THE 
KANSAS MUNICIPAL GAS AGENCY in the form presented to the governing body this date. 
 
 SECTION 3. the City hereby approves the form of the Bylaws of the Kansas Municipal 
Gas Agency presented to the governing body, and consents to and ratifies the adoption thereof by 
the Board of Directors of the Agency. 
 



 SECTION 4. This Ordinance shall be in force and take effect from and after its adoption 
and publication once in the official newspaper of the city. 
 
 ADOPTED by the governing body of the City of Garden Plain, Kansas on December 4, 2024, 
and APPROVED by the Mayor. 
 
 
       ________________________________________ 
          Kevin Hammond, Mayor 
 
(Seal) 
ATTEST: 
 
_____________________________________ 
Kimberly McCormick, City Clerk 



December 04, 2024 Garden Plain City Council Meeting                        Agenda Item: 5.b 
 
 

 

To:  Garden Plain City Council 
FR: City Staff 
RE: Consider Ordinance 784 – KMGA Acquisition Management Project Participation Agreement 
 
Background:  
As per the previous memo, the City desires to re-engage with the Kansas Municipal Gas Agency (KMGA) for the 
purpose of purchasing natural gas for the City’s natural gas utility system.  Ordinance 784 authorizes the City to 
enter into an Acquisition Management Agreement with KMGA to facilitate this action. 
 
 
Recommended Action: The City Council is asked to:  
 

1. Adopt Ordinance 784, authorizing the City to enter into an Acquisition Management Project Participation 
Agreement with KMGA to purchase natural gas for the City’s utility.  

 
Attachments: 

A. KMGA Acquisition Management Project Participation Agreement 
B. Ordinance 784 















(First published in the Times Sentinel on ______________, 20____) 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 784 
 

AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION OF A GAS ACQUISITION 
MANAGEMENT PROJECT PARTICIPATION AGREEMENT WITH THE KANSAS 
MUNICIPAL GAS AGENCY AND ALL NECESSARY DOCUMENTS WITH RESPECT 
THERETO AND PROVIDING FOR THE PLEDGE OF THE REVENUES OF THE 
NATURAL GAS/ELECTRIC UTILITY SYSTEM OF THE CITY TO SECURE SUCH 
AGREEMENT. 
 

 WHEREAS, pursuant to an Interlocal Cooperation Agreement, certain Kansas Municipalities, 
including the City of Garden Plain, Kansas (the “City”), have joined together under the provisions of 
K.S.A. 12-2901 et seq. (the “Act”), to organize and create the Kansas Municipal Gas Agency (“KMGA”); 
and 
 
 WHEREAS, KMGA has implemented a certain Gas Acquisition Management Project (the 
“Project”) for the purpose of providing an economic means of long-term natural gas acquisition and 
transportation for the mutual benefit of certain members and AFFILIATE MEMBERS PARTICIPATING 
IN THE Project (the “Project Participants”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, KMGA will act on behalf of the Project Participants to acquire natural gas, effect 
the transportation and delivery of the acquired natural gas to the project Participants and provide 
other management services related to the Project; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City owns and operates a natural gas, electric, or other municipal utility 
system which utilizes natural gas in its operation; and 
  
 WHEREAS, the City desires to participate in the Project and receive the economic benefit in 
combined natural gas acquisition and transportation agreements with other KMGA Members and 
Affiliate Members; and 
 
 WHEREAS, K.S.A. 12-825j authorizes the City to enter into contracts with any person, firm, 
corporation, and other municipality for the acquisition of natural gas upon such terms as may be 
deemed necessary and reasonable by the governing body of the City; provided such contracts shall 
not exceed a period of forty years and shall not be payable by the levy of any tax. 
 
 THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE GOVERNING BODY OF THE CITY OF GARDEN 
PLAIN, KANSAS: 
 
 SECTION 1. It is hereby deemed advisable and in the best interest of the City that the City 
may participate in the Project and authorize KMGA to act on behalf of the City in providing all project 
management services relating to the Project for the purpose of having the City receive an economic 
benefit in combined natural gas acquisitions with other Project Participants. 



 SECTION 2.  The Mayor and City Clerk are hereby authorized to execute the Gas 
Acquisition Management Project Participation Agreement on behalf of the City (the “Participation 
Agreement”) substantially in the form presented to the governing body this date. 
 
 SECTION 3. The revenues of the natural gas utility system of the city (the “System”), 
necessary to fulfill its obligations herein, are hereby pledged for the repayment of the obligations of 
the City under the Participation Agreement. 
 
 SECTION 4.  The city agrees to fix, establish, maintain, and collect such rates, fees, and 
charges for the use and services furnished by or through the System, as will produce revenues 
sufficient to enable the city to have reasonable and adequate funds available for this proportionate 
and allocable share of costs associated with the Project as set forth in the Participation Agreement. 
 
 SECTION 5. The City Clerk and other officials of the City are hereby further authorized and 
directed to execute any and all documents and take such actions as they may deem necessary or 
advisable in order to carry out and perform the purposes of this Ordinance. 
 
 SECTION 6. This Ordinance shall be in force and take effect from and after its adoption 
and publication once in the official newspaper of the City. 
 
 ADOPTED by the governing body of the City of Garden Plain, Kansas on December 4, 2024. 
 
 
         
        __________________________________ 
        Kevin Hammond, Mayor 
(Seal) 
ATTEST: 
 
_________________________________________ 
Kimberly McCormick, City Clerk 
 
 
 



December 04, 2024 Garden Plain City Council Meeting                        Agenda Item: 5.c 
 

 

 

To:  Garden Plain City Council 
FR: City Staff 
RE: Consider a Technical Service Agreement with Black Hills Energy 
 
Background:  
The City proposes entering into a Technical Service Agreement (TSA) with Black Hills Energy (BHE) to provide for 
24/7/365 distribution, maintenance, and operation of the City’s natural gas utility system.  As part of the 
agreement, BHE staff will be available 24 hours a day, 7 days per week, to answer customer support calls and 
address any concerns, requests for services, repairs, leak checks, emergency leak response, line checks, etc. by 
certified BHE staff members.  Having this professional support of a large, local, and well-established company will 
help the city during a time when we are between professionally trained staff.    
 
Financial Implications: For the first year, the cost of the contract is $58,555.56 payable to BHE on an average 
monthly basis equal to $4,879.63.  Commencing during the 2nd year of the agreement, the annual rate will increase 
3% per year and invoiced by BHE on an average monthly basis.  The city anticipates hiring another employee(s) 
that are either certified to operate the system, or can be trained to do so, in the near future.   
 
Recommended Action: The City Council is asked to:  
 

1. Approve the Technical Services Agreement with Black Hills Energy.  
 
Attachments: 

A. Black Hills Energy Technical Services Agreement 




















